Wednesday July 23rd
Set off from Richmond at 9.30am and reached Mkhuze Game Reserve at 5pm having stopped off at the Outdoor Warehouse to get third party insurance for Mozambique and then at the Gateway Shopping Centre to get supplies and have lunch.  There’s a big campsite just inside the main gate of the park and only half a dozen others camping there so we had plenty of choice.  We set up camp near to an electric point so that we could hook up the freezer, it was at this point that we realised that the 12 volt supply from the second battery was not working properly but after a bit of fiddling Kev managed to get it going.

We had a quiet evening sitting out under the stars (which took us back to the days when we toured Europe on our motorbike).  Apart from the Southern Cross and Orion’s Belt (which is upside-down!) we don’t know many of the stars in the Southern skies but enjoyed looking out for shooting stars (Kev saw two) and satellites passing overhead.
Thursday July 24th
Got up early and after a cuppa went for a drive round the reserve.  We’ve been to Mkhuze twice before so headed for a couple of hides overlooking waterholes but were surprised to find that there was no water at all just deep mud however there was a constant stream of wildebeest and nyala hoping to find water so we stayed there for an hour or so.  We were amused by the antics of a family of bush pigs, a female with 3 youngsters, and later a similar sized family of warthog as they tried to wade through the mud to find a puddle to drink from.  The waterhole at the second hide was completely dry.

Back at camp we had breakfast and then packed up and drove to the Kosi Bay border post.  We took the gravel road through the hills and out onto the coastal plain before getting onto the main tar road to the border.  John Rich from Stoney Ridge was at the border to meet us and help us get through the paperwork for the vehicle.  The guy checking passports asked Kev for R275 which he was surprised about as we’d paid for our visas in Durban a couple of weeks ago so he checked with John and then showed the guy the visa stamp in our passports – which he claimed to have missed – and only charged us R14....  We chatted to the other people who had arrived to do the sand driving course while we waited for everyone to get through the formalities and let their tyres down a bit.  One vehicle we immediately recognised – a jeep - driven by Tracey who we’d met at Stoney Ridge when we’d all done the 4x4 course there in January.  We then set off in convoy to Ponta Malongane driving along single width sandy tracks (which is why John had told us to reduce the tyre pressure) with a few passing places and no sign posts!  Quite a difference going from the tar road in South Africa which went right up to the border and then changed to sand....
The site at Ponta Malongane is big with a variety of accommodation including log huts, rondavals, cabins and tents as well as plenty of campsites under shady trees just behind the beach so as soon as we’d stopped we had a look at the beach which is just white sand for miles with big breakers crashing onto it.  
We unloaded our truck as we were staying in one of the log huts for 3 nights while we were doing the sand driving course.  At this point we discovered that the fridge wasn’t working off the second battery.  Kev tried all sorts to get it fixed but nothing doing so John said we could hook it up to the electric at their camp site.  John and his wife, Sue, did all the cooking at their camp, we just had to provide chairs for sitting round the camp fire, plates, cutlery and drink.  A pleasant evening was had chatting around the fire, getting to know the other people on the course.

Friday July 25th
After breakfast we set off back towards the border until we got to a huge sand pit which is where we spent the morning learning how to get up and down sandy tracks – having let the tyres down a bit more.  There were 6 vehicles altogether but we were the only couple who were both driving so we took it in turns at the various obstacles.  As at Stoney Ridge John was an excellent teacher, always calm and encouraging and he soon had us tackling harder tracks.  We had a great morning and learnt a lot.

In the afternoon we drove to a beach north of Ponta Malagone where most of us went snorkelling, although a couple of the guys did a bit of fishing and some just sat in the sun.  The tide was out so we were able to snorkel close to the shore - being protected from the waves by the reef which is partially exposed at low tide - where we saw lots of brightly coloured fish.
Late afternoon John took us to a deck overlooking a large lake a mile or so inland where we sat and watched the sun go down .

Watching John cook for 16 people on an open fire was interesting and gave us a few ideas which we might try....

Saturday July 26th
Once again we headed off to the ‘Sand Pit’ but this time the non-drivers came too to watch the fun!!  We all got stuck several times as John got us going up harder and harder slopes.  The final challenge was going up and then across a slope – very difficult as the vehicle wanted to slide downhill sideways!  The first truck got completely stuck so we had to do a recovery which meant a lot a digging and then getting another truck to try and pull it out with a snatch rope.  Eventually we got it turned round enough for him to drive backwards down the slope to the bottom.  Everyone else had a go and no-one managed to get across the slope and we ended up with a few more recoveries.
Back at camp we went snorkelling but it was too rough to see much and we got a bit caught by the current and had a bit of trouble getting back to shore but managed it eventually – a bit scary!

We then all drove to Ponto do Oura which is just inside the Mozambique border and a “town” which has a couple of shops, several bars, a campsite and a nightclub – apparently very popular with South African youngsters holidaying in the ‘resort’.
In the evening while most of the group were watching the rugby Kev had another go at fixing the fridge and eventually, with the help of John and Johan located the fault which was a poor connection near to the battery.  Fortunately Kev had his soldering iron in the toolkit so they were able to fix it (took 1 ½ hours mostly in the dark!)
Sunday July 27th
The fridge had worked properly all night – hooray!

Everyone except the Stoney Ridge group and us left after breakfast as they all had to get home so they could go to work on Monday so we said our goodbyes and while they were packing up to leave we were moving our kit from the log hut to the campsite as we’d decided to stay on for another couple of nights.  It took us all morning to sort everything out and repack various boxes and bags but once that was done we had a quiet afternoon mostly staying at our camp.  It got very windy in the afternoon, especially out on the beach but the campsite is well protected by all the trees around.  Before they had all the camping areas it must have been thick scrub and it’s impossible to walk anywhere except on the roads and tracks on the campsite – even the walkways down to the beach have been hewn out of the bush.  A lot of the tree trunks and branches are twisted and splay out in all directions and many of them have creepers and vines amongst the branches.  Most have got their leaves on but some have no leaves (it is winter here after all!)
We collected lots of firewood and later sat by the fire and even used it to cook our steak (bought last Wednesday and in the on/off freezer all this time but perfectly OK).

Monday July 28th.

Early morning I tried to spot some of the birds at the campsite but although I could hear them it’s difficult to see them in the trees and undergrowth.  I did see a small red squirrel ambling through the bushes.
Kev did a bit of work in the truck so we can tie down the water bottles better – they rolled about a bit on our way up here - then checked out some of the electric cables.  

Still a cold wind today and quite overcast.  We saw a large group of mongoose around the campsite presumably looking for food.  They came quite close to us on a few occasions.
Stayed around camp in the afternoon apart from a very bracing walk along the beach, south towards Ponto do Ouro.  We could only walk on the wet sand as the wind was driving the soft sand horizontally along the beach – it really stung if it caught us!

Yet again we cooked over an open fire, having collected more wood during the afternoon.  Yesterday we bought a pile of wood from a guy who came round (cost us R10) but we didn’t use any of it as there’s loads around the camp so we’ll take it with us.
Tuesday July 29th
It took a couple of hours to pack everything up – still learning and working out where to put the kit – and then we went to Ponto do Ouro to do some shopping.  Got bread from a small supermarket and drinks from the liquor store then went to the market.  Had a walk around the stalls and managed to buy milk as well as eggs and some vegetables.  Then we were on our way onto unchartered territory – our trip had really begun!!

Yesterday I’d planned our route on the laptop using the Tracks for Africa software and downloaded the route to our GPS so we were able to use it to find our way back towards the border and then on to Zitunda and then Maputo Elephant Park.   Having followed John for a couple of days we’d got used to the fact that the single lane tracks would suddenly divide off into two sections and didn’t have any problem finding our way, but without the GPS we could have been completely stuck!!  The ‘main’ road towards Maputo was wider and not as sandy but still hard driving as there were lots of potholes and sections were very corrugated.

We hardly saw any other vehicles just the occasional truck coming the other way.  We were stopped by the police at one point.  I was driving at the time and they asked to see my licence.  Kev got out the vehicle and politely chatted to them while I found our wallet with all the copied documents that I’d done back in Richmond.  I gave the policeman a copy of my International Driving Licence and after a look through it he let us carry on.  

We got to the entrance of the Elephant Park and went to reception.  The guy there only spoke Portuguese but we managed to fill in the book and pay for 2 nights camping, however there was no map available of the routes through the reserve so we had to rely on the GPS and eventually got to the campsite at Milibangalala.  There were a couple of tents there but no-one around at all so we had a look at the camp sites – plenty of shade but no facilities except for a ‘long drop’ toilet.  We went onto the beach and saw a couple who said that we’d be able to camp anywhere so we choose a shady spot where we could park the truck and put the tent up next to it.  Once we’d set up camp we went for a swim – well more of a deep paddle really as the waves and current were much too big for swimming – and then a walk along the beach.  Back at the camp we saw the guys ‘in charge’ showing them the receipt that we’d got at the gate.

We found that the second battery hadn’t charged up and was very low, Kev had a look at it but couldn’t find out what was wrong.  During our drive we’d had the freezer on the main battery so everything in it was OK.  We left it on the second battery overnight and hoped that it would be OK.

Had plenty of firewood as there was driftwood on the beach and our neighbour (another Kevin) gave us the wood that he’d got but didn’t need so we soon got a fire going and Kev made beefburgers on the griddle over the open fire – great!!   Kevin and Debbie (‘next door’) invited us round for a beer so we sat chatting to them for a while.  
Wednesday July 30th
After breakfast cooked over our open fire, which didn’t take long to get alight as there were still embers from last night, we went out for a drive as Kev wanted to see if the second battery would charge up.  We were out for getting on for 5 hours and didn’t see one other vehicle in all that time!  Most of the tracks shown on our GPS unit seemed to be tracks ‘on  the ground’ so we used it to get around the reserve.  No elephants (most of them got shot during the civil war and the rest are very shy) but we did see a few buck, again they were very nervy and would dash off as soon as they heard the truck.  However we enjoyed travelling along the sandy tracks, putting some of the tips from John to good use.  At one point we arrived beside a huge lake and saw a small building so went to investigate.  There was no-one around so we had a look inside the rondaval and the little huts.  At first we thought that it was deserted but then found a platform with a cover over it and under the cover were little fish cut lengthways in half which had obviously been smoked.   We followed the tracks along the lake for quite a way and near the northern end saw a group of people down by the lake – a little bit before this we’d seen another building and a largish boat nearby.
On the way back we had to negotiate a narrow track through trees and scrub and at one point there was a low branch which Kev chopped down with the axe before we could get by.

During the drive the unit showing the power of the 2 batteries indicated that the second battery hadn’t charged up at all during the drive so we were beginning to wonder if we’d have to go back to South Africa to get it sorted out.  However Kev took out the solenoid unit and so after a bit of work, including moving the position of the solenoid unit a bit he managed to get it working, although as yet he’s not sure whether it’s properly fixed.   We went for a short drive and it appeared that the second battery did charge so we’ll see what happens overnight.

Haven’t had to do any washing up here as one of the guys here asked if he could do any jobs for us so the first evening we left out the dirty plates etc in the bowl and the washing up liquid and this morning he came round early (about 6.30) took them away and brought them back half an hour later – mind you he had used loads of washing up liquid!!  He also tidied up the fire and swept all around our site. There is very little paid employment in these rural areas of Africa and it is at times very humbling to see the way in which people take the opportunity to make a living whilst maintaining dignity and self respect. This is a remote, beautiful place more than two hours drive from the smallest of villages and hopefully we can contribute and be visitors rather than tourists on our journeys in Africa.
On the recommendation of Kevin and Debbie we’ve decided to go north to Ponta Torres Camp near Santa Maria before heading across to Maputo.  There’s no camping but, according to them, there is a site with tents and chalets and with shops nearby. 
Thursday July 31st
Paid Guillome, who helped again this morning.  Packed up and were away by 9.30am.  Followed the ‘main’ track back to the lake and then took a right turn up towards Santa Maria.  We travelled for about 2 hours along sandy tracks and never saw another vehicle.  In a few places the sand was quite deep so we were glad to have had the sand driving experience with John as it gave us the confidence to tackle the tracks.  Along the way, once outside the Elephant Park, there were a few areas where there were shacks and houses with people working in the fields or walking along the road.  The camp we were heading for, Ponto Torres, is 3km the other side of Santa Maria so we didn’t stop in the village, but carried on to the camp.  We asked about accommodation and were offered a tented unit which we could have for just 1 night or a large chalet (room enough for 8 people!) available for 3 nights – we decided on the chalet as we thought that we might as well stay 3 nights having made the effort to get here! (Didn’t wish to stay only 2 nights as we wanted to avoid going into Maputo on Sunday).  So we’ve gone from a campsite with virtually no facilities to a chalet with 3 bedrooms, a huge kitchen, dining and lounge area with a deck outside and our own braai...(BBQ).  Mind you when we came to pay we had to use all our dollars and most of our Rand as we hadn’t expected to be having to pay for ‘posh’ accommodation and they don’t take credit cards (and the nearest ATM is about a 5 hour drive away).
Once we’d unpacked we went for a swim – well more of a paddle as the tide was right out.  This beach faces North West so it’s much calmer than the beaches that we’d been to previously.

Later we drove back to Santa Maria to get supplies (mostly drink).  We tried to find the ‘supermarket’ shown on the GPS and found a sign by the road leading up in the right direction but couldn’t see any sort of shop so we carried on into Santa Maria, a tiny fishing village and parked up in the middle.  We had a walk down to the jetty and then found a small shop which had lots of different drinks plus packets and tins but the ladies in the shop had no English so we had to select our own drink and then get her to convert the amount into rand (they had a calculator).  We didn’t think that they had change in Rand and we only had R100 notes so tried different combinations of bottles of alcohol - Michelle will go anywhere for a drink - until we got to R302 and we gave them R305!!  (actually I think they would have been able to give us change in Rand or perhaps been able to convert the change to Meticais).  Nearby were a few stalls mostly selling tomatoes, potatoes, oranges, lettuce, cabbages and coconuts but also one selling mobile phones – bizarre!!  Anyway we asked if he had cell phone cards (in Africa mobile phones are called cell phones) but he had no English so called over another guy who spoke good English (and had his own cell phone).  By this time Kev had gone back to the truck to get his phone so we got a sim card and then bought 200 Meticais of airtime (about £4 worth) and the guy selling the phones put the card in our phone and added on the airtime for us.   We paid in Rand and he gave us change in Meticais.   We then bought some oranges and a coconut from one of the stalls, handed the lady a 100 metical note and she eventually sorted out the change for us!!  On our way back to the vehicle we saw a white guy sitting at a table at a small bar so went to ask him if we were in the right place for the local shopping – he said yes.  We asked about buying fish and the bar owner (also the local chief of police) showed us some small frozen fish –his wife runs a small ‘restaurant’ at the bar –  but he was happy for us to take them raw so we said that we’d take 6 of them.   JJ (the South African) suggested that we had a drink so Kev had a beer and I had a cider (which they had to and buy from the shop!).  Some of the locals who work with JJ spoke some English but mostly they spoke Portuguese or the local language which is similar to Zulu as this part of Moz is where the Zulu originally came from. The ZA guys have a concession to build holiday homes in the area but are also building schools and hospitals for the local community.  
When we went back to the vehicle Kev noticed that the carrier holding the diesel cans onto the roof rack was loose so he spent 10 minutes on the top of the truck fixing it – no doubt much to the amusement of the locals!  Back at the camp we found that it had come off again so that’s another job for Kev to sort out.

Used our logs and some wood we found round the side of our chalet on the braai.  I gutted the fish while Kev got the fire going.  Being small they didn’t take long to cook and were delicious.  The local cat found his way to our chalet and was delighted with the fish heads!  
Sat watching the ‘bush TV’ (fire) all evening.

Friday August 1st
Had arranged to go out snorkelling today.  After breakfast Kev fixed the diesel can holders.  A lady came round selling live crabs (with their claws bound up by string) but we decided not to buy as neither of us knew how to cook them, however later on I was talking to the camp manager and asked her about the crabs.  She said that our maid, Maria, would clean them for us and then we could cook them for 4 minutes in boiling water so we decided to buy some.  (Benny?) came to pick us up at 10am for snorkelling  The tide was right out – reminiscent of Morecombe Bay (but much better weather) – and we could see people, presumably fishing  and catching shellfish, a long way out on the sandbanks.  Kev and Benny had to push the boat quite a way to get into the deep channel but once there he opened up the throttle and we were soon across the bay, past the narrow channel, Hell’s Gate, between the mainland and Inhaca island which is where the reefs are.  We landed at a beach and were met by a couple of boys who introduced themselves and then asked us for R200 if we wanted to go snorkelling as it’s part of a Marine Reserve.  We’d already paid for this yesterday when we arranged for the trip so once they were OK about that they showed us where to go. One has to be careful as people will, indeed, try to take an advantage of tourists, who they, quite understandably, see as wealthy and privileged and able to afford a few extra bucks. 

 As the tide was still very low a lot of the rocks were exposed but just offshore is a deep drop which is where most of the fish were but we couldn’t see a lot as the water was getting churned up.  The water was quite cold and once out of the sea the strong wind soon got us sheltering in the lea of a sand bank.  We sat and watched the world go by for a while.  We could still see lots of people a long way out, some with fishing nets.  Later on Benny took us in his boat to a different area and we swam for a while in the shallow water.  Not very many fish but lots of large starfish, huge clams – some were easily 30cm diameter.  Once we’d had enough we went back to the beach, Benny dropped us off and went back to camp.  After a wander around the beach watching the tide come in, lunch and a rest Benny arrived back to pick us up.  We didn’t want to do any more snorkelling so he took us up the coast a bit.  By this time the tide was quite high and the bay looked completely different as all the sandbars were covered up, as were most of the posts folk use to hang out their fishing nets.  By this time the wind had changed direction through 180 degrees and the sea was getting a bit choppier, so when we turned round into the wind to head back for the camp it was quite a bouncy ride – great fun!
Maria had returned the crabs with the body part cut up into 4 pieces and the claws separated.  We did as instructed and boiled 2 of them (there were 4 altogether) them for a few minutes in salted water then had the task of getting at the meat!  Fortunately Kev had his leatherman and we used them to prise open the claws – very messy but very enjoyable.  Cooked the other 2 crabs and took the meat out which we’re going to keep for tomorrow.  We sat and ate inside as it was very windy.
Saturday August 2nd
A quiet day as we’d got nothing planned.  Much less windy than yesterday.  When the tide was out we had a walk out across the sand (and mud) and then across to the northern tip of the peninsula which is separated from Inhaca Island by a narrow channel which looked quite calm at low tide but isn’t called Hell’s Gate for nothing, so we weren’t tempted into the water at all.  We saw several squid in the shallow water, a couple of them were inside shells but a bit further on we saw one flopping around on the sand, close up I could hear it ‘squeaking’.  It didn’t look happy being high and dry on the sand so I picked it up by a tentacle and threw it into the water where it seemed to be much happier.  Once around the northern tip we could see the waves out on the ocean and hear them crashing onto the shore.  We had a look in some of the rock pools then made our way back along the shore.  After lunch Kev sat outside and read while I did a couple of sketches down by the beach.  Later we sorted out some of the boxes and packed some into the truck ready for our departure tomorrow.

Went down to the beach to see the sunset and found that it was a very high tide – in fact there was no beach left at all and the sea was right up to the tented huts.

Used the rest of the cooked crab in a curry which was very tasty.
Sunday August 3rd
Got up at 6.30am and were packed up for 7.30.  Had arranged for Maria to bring us bread this morning at 8am so we had a walk down to the beach and then had a cooked breakfast.  Set off about 9.45am driving back along the sandy track to the Elephant Reserve and then through the reserve.  All went well for the first couple of hours and the, around a corner, we could see a tree blocking the track – must have been pushed over by an elephant quite recently.  Kev had a look around but couldn’t see any way round the blocked track so out came the axe and he had a go a hacking back some of the lower branches - the main trunk was across the road but at an angle with enough room for us to get through if we could clear underneath it.  Didn’t get very far with the axe so next we used the winch to pull away the undergrowth under the main trunk and eventually got it clear enough for us to get the truck through.  By this time Kev had several scratches on his legs from the vicious thorns of the acacia tree.  Despite this hold up we made good time and were at the garage in Bella Vista by lunch time so we put a bit of diesel in the truck (only R300 worth as we’d not got that much cash left and needed some for our accommodation tonight as well as for the ferry crossing – we can get cash tomorrow in Maputo).  
Decided to head on to Catembe, another 50km on a gravel road which was good to start with but full of potholes as we drove further north.  At Catembe we got in the queue for the ferry and Kev went to find out the price – 250 Meticais but they wouldn’t take Rand – and how long we’d have to wait – no idea!!  As it was 2pm by now we decided to find the hotel nearby mentioned in one of the guide books, we couldn’t find the one mentioned but did come across a small rest camp with chalets and a restaurant so enquired about the price.  1500 Meticais (R500) for bed and breakfast which we could just about afford but might not leave us with enough to buy a meal but we reckoned that we’d got enough food with us if necessary.
A bit later we spoke to the guy behind the bar, who spoke English pretty well, and asked if there was a cash machine in Catembe.  He said not but that he’d got a Visa card machine which he was delighted to try out with our credit card.  It worked OK so at least we can eat here and pay for it with the card!!

Walked back to the ferry as Kev had thought about buying a ticket tonight (we’d changed some Rand for Meticais at the rest camp) but the guy in the ticket office came out and locked up as we arrived – one ferry had just left and there was a queue of 6 or 7 vehicles for the next ferry.  Back at the camp Kev got the compressor out to blow up the tyres as we’ll be on tar roads tomorrow then we had a shower and rested in our room. 

It’s been overcast most of the day at a couple of times there were a few spots of rain.
Shared a plate of prawns and half a chicken at the restaurant but we think they had been cooked earlier and then warmed up – OK but could would have been better if it had been hotter.

Spent the evening in our room watching TV (as there was no bush TV available!!)

Monday August 4th
Kevin’s birthday.

Up at 7am and packed up the truck (which was being washed by one of the locals – Kev gave him M20).  Went in for breakfast but due to the fact that the girl had no English and we had no Portuguese we ended up with just a cup of coffee!!  - never mind.

By 8.45am we were at the ferry and 4th in the queue.  The guy selling tickets was the same one as yesterday but MUCH more helpful today – and it only cost us M150....
We then waited for the vehicle ferry to arrive watching people on foot come and go (they were using the smaller passenger ferries).  Many of them were carrying big bags on their heads.  We’ve noticed in Moz that the men carry bags, sometimes on their heads.  We’ve also seen then carrying firewood, buckets of water and working in the gardens – in South Africa it’s only the women who do this.

Once the ferry arrived and offloaded its vehicles it was our turn to get loaded onto the ferry.  We had to drive down a narrow pier with people walking alongside in both directions until we got to the ferry.  We were directed to our spot (I had to go back and forth several times to get into position), once there we sat on the roof of the truck watching them manoeuvre the rest of the vehicles onto the ferry – amazing!  They had to get a couple of cars to change places so they could fit them in the best place and then the final vehicle, a truck, came down the pier and we couldn’t believe that they’d get it on the ferry but eventually, after getting 3 vehicles to move back and then sideways they managed it so up went the gangplank and we were off across the bay to Maputo – it only took about 10 minutes.  Once the gangplank was lowered it was a free-for-all as far as getting off the ferry was concerned.  Kev was driving and I was giving directions from the GPS unit (I’d planned the route a couple of days ago) and it worked very well, getting us out of the centre of Maputo and to the Shoprite Shopping Centre in the outskirts.  Neither of us saw much of Maputo as Kev was concentrating on driving – trying to avoid other vehicles - and I was just looking at the GPS unit!!
The Shoprite Supermarket was big and just like any supermarket in the UK so we were able to stock up on sausages, bacon, mince and cheese and well as replenishing our drinks supply.  We also bought a little trivet which we’ll be able to use for putting pans on over an open fire.

We got plenty of cash from the cash machine but there was no Internet cafe so am still unable to send Mum a message.

Packed our purchases into the truck, got some fuel and were on our way.  The GPS failed us on 1 occasion as it didn’t tell us to come off left up an off-ramp to get onto the main EN1 but we found another way to get to the road so it was OK.  The outskirts of Maputo were heaving with little shops and stalls along both sides of the road and there were loads of people on the ‘pavements’, taxis loading and unloading people and pulling out whenever they wanted, and carts being pulled along the road – it all made driving very challenging!! – but Kev coped very well.
All the way along the road as far as Marracuene it was fairly busy although not as bad as in Maputo.  Some of the taxis were very old and rickety and all overcrowded with people and belongings– they reminded us of what the taxis in South Africa used to be like 15 years ago.  
At Marracuene there was a take-away shop so we stopped as we hadn’t found anywhere to stop beside the road for lunch.  We bought a ‘sausage’ roll and a pasty which had ‘pizza’ inside – both quite nice – and some cold drinks then carried on our way.  Still a good tar road and much less traffic after leaving the town so we could spend a bit more time looking at the countryside.  We noticed several kilns near huts and realised that some were brick kilns and others were for making charcoal.  All along the road from time to time there would be road-side sellers, mostly fruit and vegetables but we also kept seeing bags which appeared to have dried grass stuffed into the top of them.  We’d first seen bags like this back near Ponto do Ouro and couldn’t work out what they were selling but today when we saw them at the roadside next to piles of logs we realised that they were full of charcoal – just to check we stopped and had a quick look at one of the bags.
Followed the GPS directions straight to the Palmeiras campsite at Bilene, booked in for 2 nights and found a shady spot next to an electric point.  The campsite is next to a large lagoon which is usually separated from the sea by sand dunes however we could see that it looked as if the tide had been in so reckoned that the high tide the other night had breached the dunes and put fresh sea water into the lagoon which looked lovely and clear – the guide book had said the water was brackish and not suitable for swimming although fine for water sports.
Were able to have an open fire on the sand near our tent so soon had the bush telly back in working order!  We have a helper called Ernest who offered to wash dishes, clothes etc so we gave him some clothes to wash – he did a very good job on them.  Mind you Kev asked him how much he wanted for helping for 2 days and he said R200 which we both thought a lot, Kev was feeling generous and offered him R150, which he agreed to.

We needed tomatoes and potatoes so I walked back to the market we’d passed just outside the campsite and got some as well as a pepper, a couple of tangerines and a bag of roasted cashew nuts.  There were several craft stalls at the market and several of them were very keen for me to look through their paintings, jewellery and wooden objects – but I didn’t buy anything.
Had steak, baked potatoes and peppers, onions and tomatoes in red wine – tasty!

Tuesday August 5th
A quiet day at the campsite.  After breakfast (used the open fire) we had a walk alongside the lagoon to the southern end of Bilene and then back along the road stopping at a shop to buy bread and the garage to get some oil.  At the moment the whole resort is very quiet but apparently gets busy at weekends and during the South African holiday period.  We only saw one other couple while we were walking along the beach.  Back at the campsite Kev stayed by the tent reading while I took the binoculars and my bird book and went birdwatching in the campsite and alongside the lagoon.  The most rewarding place was the where the beach went up into the dunes as some of the scrub had been cleared and it was nice and shady so I saw quite a few birds.
In the morning Ernest had got us a kilo of prawns (for M200 – about £4) and he also cleaned them.  He did offer to cook them for us but we fancied having a go ourselves!   We were just getting ready to cook them – it was after 6pm so dark by this time – when a couple of backpackers appeared and started to set up camp next to us.  They were speaking English but sounded foreign so we went over for a chat.  They turned out to be a couple of women from Switzerland who had 3 months holiday and were touring Southern Africa.  They had come in a bus from Maputo to Macia and then got a taxi for the last 40km of the journey – they said that both journeys, but especially the taxi ride, were terrifying with people sat on top of each other and travelling much too fast.   They were very glad to get to the campsite alive! – rather them than me in those buses and taxis.
The prawns were delicious and we only used half of them so we froze the rest of them.

Wednesday August 6th
Were woken by a very noisy dawn chorus but got back to sleep again for a bit.  Packed up slowly, said goodbye to our Swiss friends, and set off North again.  We passed a couple of police blocks but weren’t stopped.  Once we got to the flood plain of the Limpopo river the landscape changed to flat open fields.  Over the river we were into the town of Xai-Xai (pronounced Shy-Shy).  We stopped for fuel and then looked out for a bank.  At the first one the ATM machine was out of order, the next one had a huge long queue, the third one didn’t accept Visa cards... finally we found a Barclays bank with an ATM and a short queue so tried to get some cash.  It accepted our card but, because the machine only had small denomination notes, the money got stuck in the machine and we couldn’t get it out and after a minute or so it disappeared back into the machine – we did get our card back but also a receipt for M8000 (about £160) which of course we hadn’t got so we went straight into the bank and were lucky enough to find a guy who spoke English.  He understood our problem and went to see his manager but ended up saying that we needed to contact our bank in the UK so we asked about an Internet cafe and a guy in the queue gave us directions – which were spot on.  A very slow connection but we accessed the Nationwide site eventually and got a phone number then used the phone booth (at the same place).  Were told that we had to write to the bank with details about what had happened and details about the ATM (on the receipt).  We also used the Internet to try and send Mum an e-mail but couldn’t access either of my e-mail accounts – what a pain.
As we still wanted some cash we went back to the Barclays ATM, got out M3000 and then set off again.  Don’t know if we’ll get our money back but we’ve learnt not to get too much out of the ATMs at one time – could be an expensive lesson!!

The road deteriorated a bit after Xai-Xai with some potholes along the road edges but it wasn’t too bad. Much more rural here with most women in ‘traditional’ dress as they were South of Maputo, a sarong tied around their wait as a skirt, a shirt and a scarf covering their hair.  In the larger towns and villages there would be a mixture of dress with many more women wearing ‘western’ dress and some in jeans.  The men all tend to wear shirts and trousers but the younger ‘cool dudes’ have fashionable ‘torn’ or stone-washed jeans.
Just after Quissico we turned off onto on single track sandy lane which wound down through coconut trees to a large lagoon.  Went over the bridge, still following the GPS directions for the campsite, Praia Mae e Sol Bushcamp, and up through the dunes eventually seeing a few buildings.  We stopped at what we thought was the reception but the guy there told us to carry on so we did and met the owner coming the other way in his truck.  He said that his name was Leonard and then we were welcome to stay and apologised for the fact that it was a bit run down as he’s been back in South Africa for a year or so.  He showed us a nice camp spot with a large thatched kitchen area, braai and a sink with a cold water tap – and a toilet and shower block nearby.  We also met the first guy again – Filipe – who said he’s get firewood, wash up etc.

Had burger for our tea and then walked up to what will be the bar when Leonard has finished it to join him for a drink around his camp fire.  He hadn’t seen anyone except his workers for 5 days so was pleased to sit and chat with us.

Thursday August 7th
Had a cuppa and then got the fire going again to cook our sausages (once they’d de-frosted) and eggy bread.  We then had a walk along the beach towards what we thought were some rocks in the sea but turned out to be the huge crankshaft and boilers of a ship that must have sunk ages ago.  Clambered up the dunes to get a better view and came across the remains of a house that had succumbed to coastal erosion and was teetering on the edge of the dunes.  Back at camp we collected the snorkel, hats, chairs and drink and went to sit on the beach.  Leonard had said that at low tide some rocks should appear and that it might be OK to snorkel but the tide didn’t go very low so we just sat and watched the waves crashing onto the beach.  We also looked out for whales and dolphins as we’d seen some yesterday and earlier today quite far out to sea but nothing around at that time.
In the afternoon I planned the next stage of our journey and transferred it to the GPS unit.  Kev meanwhile was collecting firewood (having used up all the wood that Felipe brought us yesterday) and using his axe to chop some of the bigger branches up.

Earlier this morning Leonard had showed us around the site where he’s in the process of building a couple of houses, which he will then sell, as well as refurbishing the camp sites.

Friday August 8th
Took our time breaking camp as we didn’t have far to travel, only 140km.  Yesterday I had decided to take the short-cut to Paindane Campsite at Jangamo (SE of Inhamblane) which, according to the guide book was ‘difficult to follow’ and ‘as challenging an off road route as any you’d find in South Africa.’  In fact it was OK really.  With the help of the GPS we found the tracks and only took the wrong one once but soon realised we needed to turn round and take the other track.  For the majority of the route we used High/Low and got up the sandy hills with no problem.  About 5km after leaving the village we saw a guy walking along the track, he had a small rucksack on his back and was carrying a bottle, he begged for a lift so we stopped and, using sign, language offered him a lift on the running board on the passenger side – and I held his bottle of paraffin so that he could hang onto the roof rack.  We must have gone another 5 km before he said that was where he lived......  It was just before he left us that we got to a steeper hill and ground to a halt.  Kev backed up and tried Low but to no effect so he reversed back down the hill and let the tyres down – then it was no problem to get up the hill.
Unlike all the other places we’ve stayed at where the sites have been in the trees behind the beach, the Paindane campsite was on hillside overlooking the ocean so we had an excellent view.  Almost as soon as we got there we saw whales ‘blowing’ in the distance and for the whole time we were there hardly quarter of an hour would go by without seeing whales, mostly quite far out to sea but sometimes much closer and several times we saw them jump out of the sea – and make a huge splash!  

Just off-shore was a reef so, apart from around high tide, it was possible to swim out as far as the reef so as soon as we’d put the tent up we went for a swim – once we’d managed to find the track down to the sea.  The camp looks a little run down and this path very little used however as soon as we arrived at the beach we found out why – there were half a dozen vehicles parked up on the beach, so everyone must tend to drive down to the beach instead of walking.  We were disappointed to see vehicles on the beach, and it’s against the law in Moz to drive on the beach but obviously here they’re not keeping to the rules (in all the other places we’ve been there’s been a strict “no driving on the beach except to launch boats” policy.

There was an Austrian couple camped next to us with an old series II Landrover.  We had a chat with them and then invited them over for a drink in the evening.  They had travelled down from Austria to South Africa a couple of years ago, taking 7 months for the trip, and left the vehicle with friends in Howick and then returned this year for a month and were touring Moz.
Saturday August 9th 

After breakfast we drove to Inhamblane as Leonard had said the market was worth looking at and we knew from the Tracks for Africa software that there was an Internet cafe.

Parked outside the market and were greeted by a guy who said his name was Wilton and he offered to show us around the market while his friend guarded the truck. Wilton spoke English well (we’ve been impressed by the number of youngsters who speak good English) so was able to translate the prices of goods on offer.  First time we’ve seen much fruit for sale (previously it’s mostly been vegetables) so we got bananas and a pineapple.  Got 1 kilo of prawns, Wilton said that he’d find out the price for us – if we’d asked they would have been considerably dearer!
Found the Internet cafe but they had no Internet access at that time....... so we drove back to the jetty stopping off at the old railway station on the way.  There’s a passenger ferry service to Maxixe (pronounced Masheesh) across the bay.  At the moment they are using a wooden jetty but are building a new concrete one next to it.

From the jetty we could see the tower of the old church and drove round to have a look (noticed that it was on Karl Marx Road – a bit of irony there)!! – but it was all shut up and there was a new church building opposite.
Coconuts – there are thousands of trees in this area and all the huts are made out of the wood, palms and fibre, also fences, furniture etc – and it also makes great firewood.  We haven’t used our gas stove once since leaving Ponta Malagone!!

It took me a while to clean the prawns then we marinated them in a peri-peri sauce.  Very nice but the peri-peri was a bit too strong so didn’t get the full flavour of the prawns.

In the evening we got the scope out to look at the half moon – very clear.
Sunday August 10th
Yesterday we had decided to stay another night here but during the night it got very windy and in the morning it was still blowing hard and as the site was so exposed we decide to pack up and head north.  

We stopped for lunch in at a restaurant next to the wooden jetty in Maxixe and had an excellent view of Inhamblane (where we’d been yesterday) across the bay.  I had fish and Kev had calamari.

 On our way again and we passed the Tropic of Capricorn so stopped to take a photo.
Found the campsite at Morrungulo – expensive but we decided to stay.  Still windy so took a while to find a suitable place to camp as we didn’t want any coconuts falling on the tent or the truck....  There were several coconuts on the ground so we selected one and Kev got his axe out.  It took him a while to get into it but it was worth it, the coconut milk was very tasty as was the flesh.

Bought prawns from a guy who came round the campsite with a big cool box.

Monday August 11th
After breakfast drove to the local bakery – just a small hut (made out of coconut material of course) with an oven in it.  The guy was in the process of finishing baking so we waited for 10 minute and got some lovely hot fresh loaves.  Retraced our steps of yesterday to go to Massinga (Kev wanted to give the truck a run and it had looked a nice little town as we’d passed through it yesterday.  Loads of people walking along the road to and from the town.
Parked up and went to the market and discovered lots of little alleyways behind the main road – fascinating.  Went a bit further and parked outside the Pep store – had a look inside and it looked just like the one in Richmond.  Once again we discovered little alleyways behind the main road.  Kev bought a panga (machete)...  I got some tomatoes and then wanted half a dozen eggs.  I couldn’t work out what price they lady was saying so a young girl (perhaps her daughter) came around to me, got out her very posh mobile phone and punched in 50 while pointing at the packets of 12 eggs – sp I ended up with 6 eggs for M25!
Back at the campsite we went for a swim – well mostly getting pushed about by the waves but at least they were pushing us back into shore!

In the evening we had the prawns that we’d bought yesterday (they’d been in the freezer overnight) - I was much quicker cleaning them this time.  We used garlic, ginger, coconut, tomatoes, onion and curry powder and they were superb!
Tuesday August 12th
Went for a stroll along the beach after a cuppa and then drove to the bakery for bread and to the craft market just around the corner were we bought a bag (a big bag) of charcoal.  Have decided that one of the reasons that the women wear headscarves is for when they carry things on their head – we watched several of them passing by with containers filled with water from the pump nearby as we were waiting for the bread to finish cooking – they make a ring out of the headscarf, put it on top of their head and then load their goods on top.
Spent the day at the campsite.  Had a great swim, managing to get out beyond the breakers, and then just ride over the waves some of which were quite big.  The beach here is quite a bit wider than most of the other places and even at high tide there’s plenty of sand and there’s less of a current so safer for swimming.  This site is the busiest we’ve been to as quite a few of the chalets have occupants, mostly South Africans and usually in groups.  There are only a couple of others who are camping.
Kept the fire going all day – to use up some of the charcoal!! 

Wednesday August 13th
Didn’t take as long to pack up today for some reason, perhaps we’re just getting used to where everything goes.

Drove back to the main road and then headed north again.  The road for the first 30km or so was dreadful, full of potholes.  Thank goodness we’re in the truck, we saw some ordinary cars trying to negotiate their way round the potholes and having to crawl along.  In several places I was down to 20km/hour or less. Fortunately the road then suddenly improved and was a good tar surface so we made good time to Vilanculos.  As we were driving in there were hundreds of schoolkids walking along the road, some walking into town having been at school in the morning and others walking to school for the afternoon session – and just like the kids in the UK with their low slung short ties !

Stopped at a small site, Casa de Josef e Tina,mainly huts and rooms for backpackers but a bit of room for camping and it looked secure – this is the first time we’ve camped on the outskirts of a town as all the other places were  mainly camping holiday resorts.  We parked close to the main house so that we could hook up to the electric in the kitchen. 
Drove into town as we needed more cash and also wanted to get some Rand for when we go into the Kruger.  Eventually were able to change Meticais into Rand at the Taurus supermarket (suggested by a guy we met outside one of the banks).  Bought a few provisions there and was able to pay with our credit card – the first place we’ve used it since leaving Maputo.  On the way back to the campsite we stopped to buy prawns which made another excellent meal!

Have arranged to go on a boat trip out to one of the offshore islands tomorrow.  At first Nino said that the price was 1 million meticais – WOW!  Eventually we realised that he must have meant 1thousand meticais having confused mille with million.  

Thursday August 14th
Were picked up by Rodriguez just after 8am and were soon on the dhow.  There were just one other couple on the trip who were from Holland.  Had to use the engine to go across as there was no wind.  The sea was flat calm and very clear and often quite shallow as it was low tide.   We also saw lots of boats and people out fishing.
It took over an hour to get to the island, having to avoid some of the sand bars but once there we put our stuff under the only tree (and proper shade) and went snorkelling.  Amazing number of fish of all colours and sizes.  We hardly had to use our flippers as we just drifted gently with the current along the rocky shoreline.

Lunch was included in the price and turned out to be grilled fish, rice and ratatouille followed by pineapple – it was delicious.  We went snorkelling again but this time kept to the lagoon inside the reef as the tide was coming in.  There weren’t as many fish but they were close to the surface and very clear as the water was so still.  The Dutch couple said they were going to walk around the island in the afternoon – the guy in charge of the dhow said it should take 1 ½ hours so we decided to go round as well and set off a bit before them.  By this time it was getting towards high tide and on the eastern side of the island we saw hundred of crabs then around the southern tip lots of birds, one group looked like curlews with long down-curved beaks.  An hour an a half later we were still walking and reckoned that we’d be at least another ½ hour – walking on soft sand is hard work!!  By this time we’d met up with the Dutch couple (who’d taken a short cut over the dunes) and I think that we were all glad to see our boat coming to pick us up.  By now the wind had got up a bit so our return journey was using the sail, it took longer but was certainly more peaceful!  
Friday August 15th
Had a lie-in – didn’t get up until nearly 7.30am!

Walked into town to have a look round the market.  As at Massinga most of it was behind the main road and a maze of little alleyways selling everything from flip flops to TVs as well as the usual fruit, veg and fish!  Spent a good hour wandering around.

At lunchtime we went to the supermarket next to the bottle store but it was shut so we went to the Internet cafe to send this diary to Mum and Pat and Colin then had lunch at the cafe next door – chicken burger (nice) and chips (rubbish!).  Went to the Taurus supermarket then bought just over a kilo of prawns for 200 Meticais.

Spent a quiet afternoon at the campsite.  As we did a couple of days ago after I’d cleaned the prawns (I’m getting much quicker at this!) we marinated them in garlic, ginger and olive oil and later grilled them – lovely!!
Saturday August 16th
Packed up and were at the supermarket by 8.45am – but it didn’t open until 9am so Kev found a little shop where he got milk and then I bought bread from the market.  Filled up with diesel and set off for our 2 day trip to the Kruger.

Back on the main road we went south for 50km before turning off on a gravel road which was good going through to Mabote  Here we turned right into the town and were soon pulled over by a policeman but he just asked us where we were going and on us saying ‘Pafuri’ he said that we should have gone straight across at the crossroads.  We were a bit puzzled as the GPS had told us to turn right but I soon realised that, as I’d put the town as a waypoint on the route it was taking us to the centre of the town rather than carrying on to the next route point.
The next section was 160km of sandy track winding through the bush.  Occasionally there would be a village with a group of huts – mostly made of mud here – and the larger ones had new school buildings but sometimes we would drive 20km without seeing anything but bush.  Near a river crossing (there was a bridge but as the river was dry we didn’t need it) there was a bush fire and some of it was very close to the road but we got passed it OK.  After this the track got very bad and Kev was often down to 10km/hr getting through the various obstacles.  Fortunately this only lasted for half an hour or so.    During this part of the journey we only passed 2 other vehicles and then found ourselves behind a very slow truck (the bus?) filled with passengers and goats.  It wouldn’t pull over for us to pass so in the end Kev managed to overtake when we came to a section where there was a grassy strip next to the track so he pulled off into the bush and managed to get passed!   At this point we started to think seriously about where we were going to stay for the night (there are no campsites on this route).I favoured stopping at a village and asking permission to camp but Kev was for pulling off the road and camping in the bush – a bit dodgy in some areas as there are still landmines in some areas – however once we’d got passed Machaila, a name on the map but just another little village, we did indeed pull off into the bush.  We both agreed that we’d have to sleep inside the vehicle so managed to rearrange all the kit so that there was enough room in the back for us to lie down – and still managed to keep the driver’s seat clear just in case we needed a quick getaway!  We definitely didn’t feel safe on our own (as Kev said this isn’t France and we’re not in the camper van!) so kept very quiet and just had a bit of bread and cheese to eat (having had nothing except cereal for breakfast this morning).  Once it got dark we felt much better and sat out watching the alternative bush TV – the stars and the full moon.  Having spoken to a few people since we’ve had a mixed reception to bush camping, some say they’d never do it as it’s much too dangerous but others say they often pull off the road and camp in the bush.
Sunday August 17th
We both slept fitfully but better than we expected, especially after I moved so that we were sleeping head-to-toe, but were up before 5am, re-packed the truck in the dark and managed to get back to the road with me walking in front of the truck with a torch looking out for the tracks we’d made on the way into the bush. 

Kev travelled slowly as it was still dark but luckily it was a good stretch of road.  We soon passed a truck loaded with people – it was then that we thought they might be the buses used in this area (we’d seen bus stop signs in several of the villages).  After a while the road deteriorated and there were lots of potholes to avoid and also dry river crossing, some of which were very difficult to spot.  A while later we saw a couple of guys on the side of the road and they indicated that they’d like a lift so Kev pulled up, they wanted to go to Mapai (80km away).  Kev indicated that there was no room inside, only the roof but they were quite happy and started scrambling onto the roofrack.  At this point a young woman with a baby appeared and was about to try and get onto the roof but Kev suggested that I make room inside for her, which I managed to do so we set off.  The road was still pretty bad so we were often only doing 30km/hr and a couple of times Kev had to break or swerve suddenly – at one point he stopped to check that the guys were still on the roof and got the thumbs up!  After about 60km (and an hour and a half or so later) there was a thump on the roof and we stopped so that they could get off.  They were full of thanks and offered Kev money, which he refused.  I suppose that compared to one of the trucks even the roof of our truck was reasonably comfortable!!

Once through Mapai (another small village) we were back on a sandy track leading down to the Limpopo.  There was a bridge (which consisted of wooden poles lashed together) at the river crossing but a couple of sections had dropped away into the river – which was only about 20 feet across at this time of the year (in the rainy season it’s impassable).  Kev waded across the river to check that it was OK to cross and then I took the truck across, but we forget to take a photo – shame!!  We then had to pay 200 meticais for the bridge crossing before we could go any further.  

The rest of the journey was a sandy track heading North-West, mostly slow going because of the numerous gullies.  At one village there was a small shop so as we still had some Meticais we stopped and bought 2 small boxes of wine and a bottle of whisky.  Eventually we made it to Pafuri and the South African border.  Got through the border formalities without a problem.  The South African policeman asked Kev if we had any meat (we did have a bit in the freezer) but as he was looking at the blue cooler bag Kev just said ‘there’s just fruit and veg in there’ and that was it.  Drove through the Kruger Park to the nearest rest camp at Punda Maria.  By this time (1.45pm)  it was beginning to drizzle (it had been overcast all day) and we were both tired and hungry having been on the road since 5.30am with nothing to eat apart from a couple of small bananas which I’d had after we dropped off our passengers so we thought we’d stay in a hut instead of camping.  However, at reception, they said that they were fully booked so as we didn’t want to drive any further had to settle for camping.  It then took me an hour to sort out getting a Wild Card (instead of having to pay daily Park fees) as their computer system was playing up and every time I had to fill in a form the girl served someone else so I had to wait again and then there’d be a phone call for her to deal with and then finally the card machine was playing up.......but eventually it all got sorted.  Had a look around the campsite and found a good spot but had real problems getting the pegs into the ground (and we needed them to be firmly in as it was quite windy).  We tried about 6 different pitches and Kev broke the hammer and had to use the back of the axe to hammer the pegs in, getting damper, colder and more frustrated all the time, before finding one that was OK.  Fortunately the rain eased off and after a shower we felt better and soon got the fire going -it was chilly though, the first time I’ve worn trousers for over 3 weeks.  Had chicken strips, bacon and cheese in a roll and thoroughly enjoyed it.  Tried the wine we’d bought today but it was undrinkable, even diluted with fizzy water.  Kev did try the whisky and said it was OK if mixed with coke or lots of ice!
Monday August 18th
Up soon after 6am and went for an early morning drive but didn’t see any game apart from a few impala so decided to move to one of the camps further south.  As it was still overcast we decided to try and get a hut so asked the girl in reception about availability.  Most of the camps were fully booked but we managed to get one at S.... so we packed up and set off.  Drove slowly looking out for game on the way and were rewarded with several sightings of elephant – two lone bulls and a three family groups as well as several buck and, on the far bank of the river, a group of lions.  They were lying up in the shade but then started moving and gradually wandered off into the bush.

Took a while to get settled in at Shingwedzi as, at the first hut the freezer part of the fridge wasn’t working so I went back to reception and got a different one – this time the fridge wasn’t on at all but we then found that it hadn’t been plugged in properly.  Nice not to have to put the tent up and be able to leave thing inside the hut – very basic, just 3 beds and a washbasin with a fridge and larder on the veranda, but all we needed.
Tuesday August 19th
Early morning drive to the nearby dam where there is a hide but nothing much about except a small group of elephant on the far bank, some crocodiles and a few water birds.   After a big brunch we went out for the rest of the day.  Saw lots of elephant, giraffe and buck and a couple of lone buffalo.  One of the elephants was right by the road and as Kev moved the truck forward it looked at us at started flapping its ears so we backed up and waited.  He then walked across the stood in the middle of the road eating grass.  We just had to sit and wait for a good 10 minutes until he eventually moved off.

Ate in the restaurant as we’d looked at the menu in the morning and couldn’t resist trying the first starter on the menu – Sabie river crocodile cakes!!

  Wednesday August 20th
Packed up and moved onto Letaba.  Once away from the river valley we saw very little game, it was very dry and hardly any of the trees had any leaves on them.  Just after leaving Shingwedzi we did see a pair of honey badgers foraging on the road.  Approaching Letaba we saw quite a lot of game in the river bed.  The river valley is wide and sandy but, as with most of the rivers at this time of year, there was only a small stream winding its way through the sand – and in several places it disappeared altogether.
At Letaba the girl at reception said that the campsite was fully booked as was all the hutted accommodation.  She then checked the 3 other camps within travelling distance and said they were all fully booked as well......  We decided to have a look around the campsite and noticed that there were lots of free spaces and then spoke to a couple of guys who said that the pitch next to them and the one opposite were not used last night so we went back to reception but the girl insisted that they were fully booked – the computer said so!!!  We asked to speak to the manager and after a bit of a fuss he agreed to let us camp for 1 night.  He then said “camp where you like” – as the pitches were all numbered we’d expected to be given a specific pitch.  

Found a good spot with some shade and set up our tent.  Stayed at the site until 3.30pm then went out for a drive to a hide nearby.  Had a good view over a dam with some fairly active hippo but apart from a klipspringer near the hide, some buck on the far bank and a few elephants in the distance there wasn’t much.
Thursday August 21st
Stayed at the campsite all day as I was feeling a bit poorly.  The site overlooks the Letaba river so we spent the afternoon sitting on a bench reading and looking out over the river valley.  Later on we went back to reception and asked to stay another night, at first we were told it was fully booked but made a fuss and were allowed to stay!  In fact on both nights there were plenty of spare sites so they seem to have a problem with their booking system.

Have decided not to head back to Richmond tomorrow rather than stay in the Kruger because of the accommodation problems – we’d been looking forward to trying out one of the 4x4 trails but will have to come back another time.

Friday August 22nd
Kev drove all day as I was still a bit off colour.  Stayed at a nice B&B in Ermelo and ate at a restaurant nearby as I felt a bit better.

Saturday August 23rd
Arrived back in Richmond late afternoon.

